S224472

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JATINDER DHILLON,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SUPREME COURT

JUN 1 5 2015

JOHN MUIR HEALTH et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE No. A143195

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

*DAVID S. ETTINGER (BAR NO. 93800)
H. THOMAS WATSON (BAR NO. 160277)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
dettinger@horvitzlevy.com
htwatson@horvitzlevy.com

DiCARO, COPPO & POPCKE

CARLO COPPO (BAR No. 34226)
MICHAEL R. POPCKE (BAR No. 122215)

INTRODUCTION

A hospital colleague of Dr. Jatinder Dhillon lodged a complaint that Dr. Dhillon had been abusive toward her at a physicians' meeting. After an investigative committee of physicians found merit to the complaint, the hospital medical staff directed both physicians to attend an anger management class. The other physician went to the class, but Dr. Dhillon refused. Instead, he asserted that the committee's investigation was inadequate, and he demanded the hospital initiate a formal Judicial Review Committee (JRC) hearing process, which is review by "an independent panel when certain actions are taken against [a physician]." (El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 994.) The medical staff declined to convene a JRC and, when Dr. Dhillon continued to refuse to attend the class, suspended his hospital privileges for 14 days.

Dr. Dhillon went to court, petitioning for a writ of mandate to challenge the anger management class requirement and the 14-day suspension and, alternatively, the lack of a JRC process. The superior court entered a judgment granting the petition in part—it ordered the hospital to hold a JRC proceeding to review the medical staff action— and denying the petition in all other respects.

The hospital, John Muir Health, believes the elaborate and burdensome JRC process is not required by statute or hospital bylaws and is particularly ill-suited for the minor disciplinary action taken against Dr. Dhillon. It thus appealed the superior

court's judgment. Because case law is unclear whether the judgment is appealable, John Muir also filed a writ petition.

The Court of Appeal summarily denied the writ petition and then dismissed the instant appeal as having been taken from a nonappealable order. The court concluded that "[t]he superior court's order remanding the matter to John Muir Health is not a final, appealable order" (1/19/15 order), relying on a line of cases which hold that "[a] remand order is not an appealable order" (Board of Dental Examiners v. Superior Court (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 1424, 1431). This court granted review and should now reverse.

Doubtful cases should be resolved in favor of the right of appeal (see *In re S.B.* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 529, 537), but this should not even be considered a doubtful case. The superior court's judgment here finally determined Dr. Dhillon's mandate petition, the type of ruling that has historically been deemed appealable.

The judgment ended the litigation in the superior court, which is the hallmark of an appealable decision. The judgment's requirement of subsequent administrative proceedings does not change that key jurisdictional fact, because those proceedings will occur outside the judicial system. It is when "'"anything further in the nature of judicial action on the part of the court is essential to a final determination of the rights of the parties, [that] the decree is interlocutory" and therefore nonappealable. (Dana Point Safe Harbor Collective v. Superior Court (2010) 51 Cal.4th 1, 5, emphasis added.) There will be no further superior court action on Dr. Dhillon's mandate petition.

Moreover, this court has been "understandably reluctant to recognize a category of orders effectively immunized by circumstance from appellate review." (In re Baycol Cases I & II (2011) 51 Cal.4th 751, 758.) Yet the superior court's ruling here and others like it would fall into such a category unless the dismissal of the appeal is reversed. Without the right to appeal, John Muir will be forced to initiate a JRC proceeding as required by the superior court's judgment without the possibility of that judgment ever being reviewed by an appellate court. Once John Muir conducts the JRC proceeding, it will become moot whether John Muir should have been burdened with that proceeding.

"A reviewing court's obligation to exercise the appellate jurisdiction with which it is vested, once that jurisdiction has been properly invoked, is established and not open to question." (*Leone v. Medical Board* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 660, 669.) The Court of Appeal here should have exercised its jurisdiction to hear John Muir's appeal on the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. After investigating another physician's harassment complaint against Dr. Dhillon, the medical staffs at John Muir Medical Center require both physicians to attend an anger management class.

John Muir Health runs John Muir Medical Center. There are two medical centers, or campuses, one at Walnut Creek and one at Concord. (See, e.g., 1 AA 37; 2 AA 194, 304.) Each campus has its own medical staff and medical staff leadership, the Medical Executive Committee (MEC). Each medical staff also has its own bylaws, but both sets of bylaws are the same as relevant here. (See 2 AA 186, 296.)

A physician on the medical staff filed a complaint against her hospital colleague, Dr. Jatinder Dhillon, claiming Dr. Dhillon had acted toward her in a verbally abusive and physically aggressive manner during a physicians' administrative meeting. Dr. Dhillon "categorically den[ied] her allegations" (3 AA 566) and demanded an investigation. John Muir responded by forming an ad hoc investigative committee of physicians from both campuses. (3 AA 466-467, 487, 543-565, 568, 599-600, 601-602, 606, 617, 620-621.)

After a comprehensive investigation, the ad hoc committee concluded in a written report that the physician's complaint had merit, that Dr. Dhillon's behavior at the meeting "was not an isolated incident," and that Dr. Dhillon had violated a medical staff code of conduct. (3 AA 568, 599, 601; see 3 AA 600 [report citing

Dr. Dhillon's "combative tone, emotional outbursts, and poorly hidden frustration with the negotiation process"].) An overriding purpose of the code of conduct is "to maintain a workplace that is free from harassment or discrimination in compliance with state and federal laws." (2 AA 404.) The committee further found that the other physician had also violated the code. (3 AA 600, 602.)

Based on the committee's investigation and report, both campuses' MEC's unanimously determined the complaint against Dr. Dhillon was valid and they required him and the other physician to attend an anger management class for healthcare professionals at the University of California San Diego. (3 AA 568, 572, 602, 606, 617, 620-621.) The MEC's additionally said that, after he completed the program, Dr. Dhillon would be required for one year to "follow up with the Physician Well Being Committee." (3 AA 568, 572, 602.) The chiefs of staff at both campuses warned Dr. Dhillon that "any future violation [of the code of conduct] may result in disciplinary action." (3 AA 568.)

B. When Dr. Dhillon refuses — for over a year — to attend the anger management class, the medical staffs suspend his clinical privileges for 14 days.

The other physician completed an anger management class without complaint (3 AA 579, 588, 620-621), but Dr. Dhillon did not. The MEC's initially gave Dr. Dhillon eight months to complete the anger management class. (3 AA 568, 602, 606, 617, 620-621.) Dr. Dhillon repeatedly refused, and he continued to refuse after the

compliance period was extended by six months. (3 AA 577, 579, 588, 607, 615, 620-621.) He also turned down an invitation to propose an equivalent alternative to attending the class. (3 AA 575, 607, 611, 615, 617, 620-621.)

The chiefs of staff warned Dr. Dhillon that failing to complete the anger management class would lead to a limited suspension — "just under 14 full days" — of his clinical privileges. (3 AA 589.) When the extended period for compliance expired, Dr. Dhillon had still not attended the required anger management class. (3 AA 620-621.) Because of this noncompliance, the MEC's suspended his clinical privileges at the Medical Centers for 14 days. (3 AA 596, 620-621, 701.) The short suspension was not reportable to the Medical Board of California. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 805, subd. (e) [reporting is required "following the imposition of summary suspension of staff privileges, . . . if the summary suspension remains in effect for a period in excess of 14 days" (emphasis added)].)

C. After John Muir denies Dr. Dhillon's demand for a Judicial Review Committee proceeding about the anger management class requirement and the 14-day suspension, Dr. Dhillon takes the matter to court, petitioning for a writ of administrative mandamus.

Throughout the handling of the harassment claim against him, Dr. Dhillon continually demanded more — and increasingly more elaborate — review procedures.

When the other physician originally filed her complaint against Dr. Dhillon, he rejected the Concord Chief of Staff's efforts to discuss the complaint and resolve the conflict collegially, and instead demanded a formal investigation. (3 AA 513, 599, 601.) When that comprehensive investigation — by the ad hoc committee of John Muir physicians — led to the anger management class requirement, Dr. Dhillon hired a lawyer who "demand[ed] that a neutral outside investigator be brought in to conduct a full, fair, impartial investigation." (3 AA 571.)¹ The medical staffs denied that demand. (3 AA 574; see also 3 AA 587.)

Finally, when the chiefs of staff warned Dr. Dhillon of the impending 14-day suspension, his lawyer — and also Dr. Dhillon himself — demanded that John Muir initiate a Judicial Review Committee (JRC) proceeding. (3 AA 592, 594.) The chiefs of staff explained that no additional hearing was available. (3 AA 595; see 3 AA 593.) Additionally, the MEC's reported to the medical centers' single governing body that, because of its short duration, the suspension was not reportable to the Medical Board of California and it did not give Dr. Dhillon any hearing rights under the medical staff bylaws. (3 AA 620-621.)

Dr. Dhillon's counsel also tried to convince John Muir to rescind the requirement that he attend the anger management class. (3 AA 586.) In one letter, his lawyer defended Dr. Dhillon's conduct toward the other physician (3 AA 581-582), favorably referencing Soviet Premier Nikita Khrushchev's banging of his shoe on the table at the United Nations, and calling Khrushchev's action one that demonstrated "theatrical flair [and that] was a success" (3 AA 583).

On the same day that his 14-day suspension began, Dr. Dhillon filed in the superior court a petition for a writ of administrative mandamus. (1 AA 1.) A month later, he filed an amended petition. (1 AA 7.) In the petition, Dr. Dhillon claimed that the ad hoc committee investigation (which John Muir had conducted at Dr. Dhillon's insistence) "was a sham, from start to finish" (1 AA 11) and that "[t]he grossly excessive penalties imposed on [him] were a manifest abuse of discretion" (1 AA 18). The superior court would later reject these allegations.

Dr. Dhillon's amended petition requested a variety of remedies, including (1) vacating the (already concluded) 14-day suspension of his clinical privileges, (2) requiring a JRC hearing on the underlying complaint against him and on the limited (already concluded) suspension, (3) a finding that the ad hoc committee's conclusions were not supported by the evidence, (4) an order restraining the medical centers from communicating to anyone that Dr. Dhillon has had "'communication/professional conduct'" issues, and (5) an order allowing Dr. Dhillon to proceed with "an immediate tort suit for damages." (1 AA 19.)

D. The superior court grants Dr. Dhillon's petition in part and denies it in part, ordering John Muir to conduct a judicial review proceeding to review both the underlying complaint against Dr. Dhillon and the subsequent (already completed) 14-day suspension.

Dr. Dhillon moved the superior court to grant the relief requested in his petition. (1 AA 52.) After a hearing (RT 1-16), the superior court granted Dr. Dhillon's motion in part and denied it in part (4 AA 776-779). The court entered an order on August 6, 2014, and then a judgment on September 8. (4 AA 782, 797.)

The court's August 6 order, and its September 8 judgment, granted "[a] peremptory writ ordering a hearing before the Judicial Review Committee or other appropriate body," stating that, under the medical staff bylaws, John Muir "must provide [Dr. Dhillon] with Judicial Committee Review [sic] and appellate rights." (4 AA 783, 797.) The court found that Dr. Dhillon was entitled to a JRC proceeding "on both the initial and underlying complaint as well as the subsequent suspension." (Ibid.) It also found that Dr. Dhillon "was deprived of a due process when [the medical centers] suspended his clinical privileges for less than 13 days [sic] without providing him a [JRC] hearing." (4 AA 783, 797-798.)

The superior court denied all other writ relief sought by Dr. Dhillon, including his requests to set aside the suspension of his privileges and for a ruling that the ad hoc committee's findings were not supported by substantial evidence. (4 AA 782-783.) The court's

judgment² resolved Dr. Dhillon's entire petition, leaving nothing more for the court to decide.

E. John Muir files this appeal and also a writ petition, because case law is unclear whether the superior court's judgment is appealable. The Court of Appeal summarily denies the writ petition and then dismisses the instant appeal as not having been taken from an appealable judgment.

John Muir filed both a notice of appeal (4 AA 799) and a writ petition (John Muir Health v. Superior Court, Court of Appeal case number A143256) to challenge the superior court's judgment requiring initiation of a JRC proceeding. John Muir explained it was doing both because there is conflicting case law about whether the superior court's judgment is appealable or reviewable only by writ petition. (PWM 1-2, 17-18.)

Dr. Dhillon opposed John Muir's writ petition on the ground the superior court's judgment was appealable. (Return to Petition for Peremptory Writ of Mandate 26-27, 43-44 (Return) [John Muir Health v. Superior Court, Court of Appeal case number A143256].) The Court of Appeal summarily denied John Muir's writ petition.³

The superior court's August 6 order and September 8 judgment are essentially the same. Therefore, we will collectively refer to them as the "judgment."

³ John Muir petitioned this court for review of the summary denial. (John Muir Health v. Superior Court, S223382.) The petition was denied.

At the same time, in this appeal, the court ordered briefing "solely addressing the issue of whether the appeal should be dismissed because the Contra Costa County Superior Court order... is or is not an appealable order." (12/11/14 Order.)

John Muir explained in its brief that the superior court's judgment is appealable, either as a final judgment or as a final determination of a collateral matter. In his brief, Dr. Dhillon did an unabashed about-face. After having opposed the writ petition by telling the Court of Appeal that "[t]he issues presented in [the] writ proceeding . . . should be addressed on appeal, after full briefing and oral argument" (Return 26-27), Dr. Dhillon argued the appeal should be dismissed as having been taken from a nonappealable order.

The Court of Appeal dismissed John Muir's appeal. The court stated, "The superior court's order remanding the matter to John Muir Health is not a final, appealable order. (See Board of Dental Examiners v. Superior Court (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 1424; see also Gillis v. Dental Board of California (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 311, 318.) Furthermore, the order and judgment at issue here are not appealable as a final determination of a collateral matter." (1/9/15 order.)

This court granted John Muir's petition for review.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. IT IS NOW OR NEVER FOR APPELLATE REVIEW OF THE FINAL **SUPERIOR** COURT JUDGMENT MANDATING ANEXTENSIVE HOSPITAL ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING THAT IS NOT DESIGNED OR INTENDED FOR THE MINOR DISPUTE DR. DHILLON HAS WITH THE JOHN MUIR MEDICAL STAFFS.

Dr. Dhillon demanded, and the superior court has ordered, initiation of the Judicial Review Committee (JRC) hearing process at John Muir Medical Center. This is no small thing. Rather, it is a major undertaking that consumes substantial resources. And it is a procedure — as John Muir would explain if it has the opportunity to brief the substantive merits of this appeal — that is unnecessary and unsuited for the type of minor complaint Dr. Dhillon has with the medical staffs at John Muir, and that is not required by either statute, case law, or hospital bylaws.

A JRC hearing process is not meant to resolve every dispute that a physician has with a hospital medical staff. Rather, "a physician is entitled to [such] a hearing before an independent panel when certain actions are taken against him." (El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 994 (El-Attar), emphasis added.) If this appeal is allowed to proceed, John Muir would show that requiring a physician to go to an anger

management class, and suspending the physician for 14 days when he refuses to attend, are not among those "certain actions."

However, John Muir can never obtain appellate review of the superior court judgment mandating a JRC process unless this court reverses the Court of Appeal's dismissal of John Muir's appeal from the judgment. This appeal is about the JRC procedure, not the result of the procedure. If the dispute about the minor corrective action taken against Dr. Dhillon ever returns to the superior court, it will be by way of an entirely new administrative mandate petition after the JRC proceeding has already been conducted, and it will then be pointless to adjudicate whether the proceeding should have occurred in the first place.

Although this case is now only about the appealability of the superior court's judgment, it is important to understand and consider the process that the judgment, if left undisturbed, would set in motion.

The JRC hearing process is best understood in the context of the hospital medical staff peer review system of which it is a part. "Hospitals in this state have a dual structure, consisting of an administrative governing body, which oversees the operations of the hospital, and a medical staff, which provides medical services and is generally responsible for ensuring that its members provide adequate medical care to patients at the hospital. In order to practice at a hospital, a physician must be granted staff privileges." (El-Attar, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 983.)

California law imposes important responsibilities on a hospital medical staff. The medical staff, which normally operates through various peer review committees, is required to "evaluate physicians applying for staff privileges, establish standards and procedures for patient care, assess the performance of physicians currently on staff, and review such matters as the need for and results of each surgery performed in the hospital, the functioning of the patient records system, the control of in-hospital infections, and the use and handling of drugs within the hospital." (Arnett v. Dal Cielo (1996) 14 Cal.4th 4, 10.)

The "'overriding goal of the state-mandated peer review process is protection of the public and ... while important, physicians' due process rights are subordinate to the needs of public safety.'" (Ellison v. Sequoia Health Services (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1486, 1498; see Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809, subd. (a)(6) ["To protect the health and welfare of the people of California, it is the policy of the State of California to exclude, through the peer review mechanism as provided for by California law, those healing arts practitioners who provide substandard care or who engage in professional misconduct, regardless of the effect of that exclusion on competition"]; all undesignated statutory references in section I are to the Business and Professions Code.) The Legislature has stated that peer review should "be done efficiently, on an ongoing basis, and with an emphasis on early detection of potential quality problems and resolutions through informal educational interventions." (\S 809, subd. (a)(7).)

A JRC hearing is the opposite of an "informal educational intervention[]." It is a major adversarial proceeding pitting a physician against a peer review body — typically a hospital medical

evaluation, has recommended certain adverse actions be taken against the physician. It is "a hearing before a neutral arbitrator or an unbiased panel." (*El-Attar*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 988.) A JRC hearing has many of the trappings of a superior court trial, except the JRC is generally comprised of physicians who must call upon their own medical expertise to evaluate medical issues — such as the appropriateness and quality of patient care, and the charting of information in patient medical records — to determine whether the adverse action taken against the physician was warranted.

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