# SUPREME COURT FILED

# **CASE NO. S224472**

JUL 1 0 2015

CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT

rrank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### JATINDER DHILLON,

Petitioner and Respondent,

VS.

# JOHN MUIR HEALTH, BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF JOHN MUIR HEALTH

Respondents and Appellants.

From an Order of Dismissal, First District Court of Appeal, Div. Three, Case No. A143195 Contra Costa Superior Court, Case No. MSN-13-1353 The Hon. Laurel S. Brady, Judge Presiding

# ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

for redetermination is not an appealable order under section 1094.5.)

The limitations on what constitutes a final, and therefore appealable, judgment under section 1094.5 is consistent with the cases that have concluded that a trial court order remanding a matter to an administrative body for further consideration must be addressed by a writ proceeding and is not an appealable order.

For example, in what JMH identifies as the "seminal" case, *Board of Dental Examiners v. Superior Court (Sedler)* (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 1424, the appellate court "considered whether a remand order is appealable and whether the trial court, under Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, subdivision (e), properly augmented an administrative record with evidence submitted after the administrative hearing." (*Sedler*, at 1425.) The *Sedler* court held "that a remand order is not an appealable order." (*Ibid.*)

In Sedler, a dentist filed a writ of administrative mandamus after the Board of Dental Examiners took disciplinary action against him, and submitted a letter in support of his writ petition from one of the witnesses who testified at the administrative hearing, which contained new evidence. (Sedler, at 1426.) The trial court did not rule on the petition but issued a partial remand to the Board to consider and evaluate the new evidence. (Ibid.) After the Board did so, the trial court issued a second remand order, which the Board sought to appeal. The appellate court held that a remand

order is not appealable, but exercised its discretion to consider the appeal as a petition for writ of mandate and decide the issues on their merits.

Although the *Sedler* court did not articulate the basis for its conclusion that a remand order is not appealable, the procedural status in that case is consistent with section 1094.5, subdivision (f). That is, the trial court's remand order did not deny the mandamus petition, nor did it command the agency to reverse its decision. Thus, the order at issue in *Sedler* – like the order at issue in this case – was not a final judgment from which an appeal could be taken, as defined in section 1094.5, subdivision (f).

Other cases also comport with the limitations established in section 1094.5, subdivision (f) as to what constitutes a final judgment. For example, in *Village Trailer Park, Inc. v. Santa Monica Rent Control Board* (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 1133, 1139-1140 the court did not deny the petition for writ of mandamus, nor did it grant the relief sought but, instead, remanded the matter to the trial court for recalculation of the damages. The appellate court held that because the judgment only partly granted the petition and remanded for further proceedings, the court concluded – correctly – that the remand order was not appealable. Again, that decision comports with the limitations mandated in section 1094.5.

The appellate court in Gillis v. Dental Board of California (2012)

206 Cal.App.4th 311, 318 similarly concluded that the trial court's order remanding the matter to the administrative agency was not appealable.

Again, as in the other cases, the trial court's order did not either deny the petition for writ of mandamus or command the agency to set aside the order or decision; rather, it merely remanded the issue for redetermination.

In contrast to the cases in which remand orders are issued without either denying the petition or commanding the administrative body to set aside its order, other appellate opinions permit appeal from trial court's decisions in administrative mandamus cases where, in fact, the petition is actually denied or the trial court commands the administrative body to set aside its order, either with or without an order that it reconsider its determination. (See, e.g., *Smith v. Selma Community Hospital* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1478, 1481; *Bode v. Los Angeles Metropolitan Medical Center* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 1224, 1232; *Hongsathavij v. Queen of Angels/Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center* (1998) 82 Cal.App.4th 1123.)

In at least one case, *Hackenthal v. Loma Linda Community Hosp*.

Corp. (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 59, the appellate court permitted an appeal,
without analysis of the appellate jurisdiction issues, where the trial court's
order was a remand to either reinstate the doctor's privileges or afford him
the required administrative hearing. Although not expressly compliant with

section 1094.5, subdivision (f), by ordering the hospital to reinstate the doctor's privileges, that order at least arguably commanded the administrative body to set aside its decision and reconsider its determination. Thus, the appellate court's implied conclusion that the order was appealable is consistent with the statute.

Although the cases holding that remand orders in administrative mandamus proceedings are not appealable did not articulate the basis for their conclusion (see, e.g., *Village Trailer Park*, *Gillis* and *Sedler*), those decisions are, in fact, consistent with the express language of section 1094.5, subdivision (f).

The same is true here. The appellate court's conclusion that the trial court's order in this case was not appealable is entirely consistent with the requirements for a final judgment under section 1094.5, subdivision (f):

The order in this case: (1) Did not deny the petition in its entirety; (2) Did not command JMH to set aside its decision; and (3) Did not command JMH to set aside its decision and reconsider its determination. Thus, like the orders in *Sedler*, *Village Trailer Park*, and *Gillis*, the order in this case was not appealable. Rather, an appeal must await the final exhaustion of Dr.

Dhillon's administrative review appeals and a final determination by the

3.

# THE ANALYSIS PROPOSED BY JMH IS LEGALLY AND LOGICALLY INSUPPORTABLE

JMH's attack on the appellate court's determination that the trial court's order was not appealable is without legal or logical support.

First, of course, JMH provides no analysis of section 1094.5, subdivision (f) and its requirements for a final judgment in the administrative mandamus context.

Second, JMH's attempt to analogize the situation here with the rule developed by this Court in the context of a legislative subpoena in *Dana*Point is particularly inapt. An action to enforce a legislative subpoena is its own, entire, self-contained proceeding. As this Court concluded in *Dana*Point, "[a]t no point does the order [enforcing the legislative subpoena]

<sup>3</sup> JMH contends that it does not intend to pursue any administrative mandamus from a final Board decision in this case. (OBM, p. 35.) But Dr. Dhillon certainly intends to do so in the event that the Board does not relieve Dr. Dhillon of the PACE program mandate and expunge the suspension from his records. Moreover, JMH contends that the Superior Court would no doubt be "surprised" if this case returned to it. (OBM, p. 27.) More likely the Superior Court would be surprised if it did not.

contemplate future proceedings nor otherwise indicate that it is not final.

Thus, the order is final for purposes of appeal."

That, however, cannot be said with respect to the remand order by the trial court in this case. Indeed, there is every reason to believe that the trial court did not intend for its mandamus order to be final since it did not comply with the requirements of section 1094.5, subdivision (f) for issuing a judgment in mandamus. Had the trial court intended its order to be final, rather than an interim or interlocutory remand for further proceedings, it would have granted Dr. Dhillon's petition, commanded JMH to set aside its order compelling Dr. Dhillon to attend the PACE program and revoke the suspension, while requiring it to reconsider its ruling and complete the administrative review process. But that's not what the trial court did and the order it issued is *not* a final, appealable judgment under section 1094.5.

Furthermore, the *Dana Point* decision was also predicated on this Court's analysis distinguishing legislative subpoena orders from the usual discovery orders in civil suits. (*Dana Point*, at 9-11.) But the order at issue in this case is more like a discovery order than it is like an order enforcing a legislative subpoena. Like a discovery order, the order in this case contemplates further proceedings - i.e., a remand and further action once Dr. Dhillon is afforded his administrative appeal rights. Also like a discovery order, the order requiring that JMH afford Dr. Dhillon a JRC

hearing would be subject to appeal from the final judgment rendered after a final judgment is actually rendered – although, like most discovery orders, the issue would be moot at that stage. Like a discovery order, JMH had – and took – the opportunity to obtain interim writ relief in order to avoid the potential mootness of the order. Thus, unlike the legislative subpoena order addressed in *Dana Point*, the remand order in this case *is* like discovery order and is *not* like a final judgment.

JMH's reliance on *AJA Associates v. Army Corps of Engineers* (3rd Cir. 1987) 817 F.2d 1070 is also wholly misplaced. First, of course, the *AJA* court was not dealing with the mandates of Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, subdivision (f) and therefore its rationale has no application to this case. Furthermore, even the *AJA* court acknowledged that "[R]emands to administrative agencies *are not ordinarily appealable* under [28 U.S.C.] section 1291." (*AJA*, at 1073, internal quotations omitted.)

Finally, the *AJA* court made an exception to that general rule because the district court's decision "resolved an issue of wide-reaching impact," which "opens up for all applicants the argument, raised after permit denial, that due process requires a hearing in their particular cases, and which was an "important decision [that] cannot receive later appellate review." There are, however, no such equivalent exceptions to California's one final judgment rule. Indeed, under California's procedural rules, such

an important decision with such wide-ranging effects would likely have resulted in the grant of a petition for writ review – a procedural vehicle rarely obtainable under the federal rules. (Goelz, Watts & Batalden, California Practice Guide: Federal Ninth Circuit Appellate Practice Guide (Rutter 2015) ¶ 13:11 [unlike state court practice, writ review is available in the Ninth Circuit only under "stringent standards."].)

Thus, the *AJA* decision does not support fashioning an exception to the mandates of section 1094.5 affording appellate review to a limited specie of administrative mandamus orders.

The California appellate cases relied on by JMH are similarly inapposite: Not only are they factually distinguishable but, again, they do not address the definition of a final judgment under section 1094.5.

For example, in *Carson Gardens, LLC v. City of Carson Mobilehome Park Rental Review Board* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 856, 866, a mobilehome park owner applied to the rental board for a 50% increase in space rentals. The board rejected that requested increase and authorized only a 9.8% increase in rents. The park owner sought administrative mandate relief from the superior court and that court granted the requested relief, "directing the Board to *set aside its resolution* and to conduct a new hearing." (*Carson Gardens*, at p. 862.) That order falls within the definition of a final judgment under section 1094.5, subdivision (f) and was appealable. No

appeal was filed, however, and after remand, the matter returned to the superior court, which again found the rent control board's methodology inappropriate under the statute. The superior court then issued an order setting aside the rental board's order and itself determined the amount of rent increase to be allowed and ordered another remand. The board appealed from that order.

In its appeal, the board challenged the trial court's interpretation of the rental increase statutes made by the trial court in the first remand order. But the appellate court concluded that the board had waived that challenge by failing to appeal from that first order. (*Carson Gardens*, at 866.) And, in fact, as noted above, that first order did comply with section 1094.5, subdivision (f), and was appealable.

As to the appeal from the second order, the appellate court denied a motion to dismiss the appeal, without analysis or explanation in the published decision. But, in point of fact, the trial court's second order arguably also complied with section 1094.5, subdivision (f)'s requirements for a final judgment because it ordered the Board's determination "null and void," essentially thereby commanding the Board to set aside its decision. Thus, unlike here, because the order did comply with the requirements for a judgment under section 1094.5, subdivision (f), it was, in fact, properly appealable.

The same distinctions exist with respect to Los Angeles International Charter High School v. Los Angeles Unified School District (2012) 209 Cal. App. 4th 1348. First, that case is distinguishable because the charter school sought a writ of mandate under Code of Civil Procedure section 1085, not section 1094.5. (Los Angeles International, at 1353.) Furthermore, the charter school sought administrative mandate to require the school district to provide facilities to it as required under Proposition 39. The superior court granted the substantive relief requested in the petition for administrative mandate (which was an order that would have complied with section 1049.5, subdivision (f)'s requirements) and neither party appealed from the order, either by way of a direct appeal or by way of an appellate writ petition. When the school district refused to provide access to facilities at the specific high school location the charter school preferred, the charter school went back to the superior court, which found that the district met its legal obligations in offering the facilities it did and discharged the writ, which thereby became final. The charter school appealed the discharge and the appellate court affirmed the discharge.

As part of its analysis, the appellate court concluded that by failing to appeal from the initial mandamus order, the charter school had waived the right to challenge the language of the initial order. But since, as in *Carson Gardens*, since the original order met the requirements of section

1094.5, subdivision (f), it was properly appealable. Similarly, the final order, discharging the writ (i.e., denying it) also complied with the mandates of section 1094.5, subdivision (f) and was also appealable. Again, that is not the case here and *Los Angeles International* has no application.

City of Carmel-By-The-Sea v. Board of Supervisors 1982) 137

Cal.App.3d 964, 970 similarly involved an order that complied with the requirements of section 1094.5, subdivision (f): "[T]he court filed its judgment granting peremptory writ of mandamus, ordering that a peremptory writ would issue remanding the proceedings to the board and commanding it 'to set aside its approval [of the Rancho use permit] unless and until [the Board] adopts findings supported by substantial evidence that the use permit . . . is consistent with the general plan requirements and conditions of the extension granted by the [OPR] . . . . " (City of Carmel, at 970.) In other words, the order commanded the Board to set aside its decision and to reconsider it. That, in turn, constituted an appealable order under section 1094.5, subdivision (f).

The Board filed a return, indicating that it complied with that otherwise-appealable order and the appellate court found that by complying with the order, the Board had waived the right to appeal it after a subsequent order. Thus, once again, the order at issue in City of Carmel –

unlike the order in this case – was an appealable judgment under section 1094.5, subdivision (f).

JMH's reliance on *Quintanar v. County of Riverside* (2014) 230

Cal.App.4th 1226 is particularly misplaced because it, in fact, support's Dr. Dhillon's position. In *Quintanar*, a police officer filed an administrative mandamus petition seeking to overturn a hearing officer's conclusion that he used excessive force, thereby justifying his demotion. The petition asserted that the hearing officer did not exercise his own independent judgment on the issue, in conflict with the controlling requirements. The trial court remanded the matter for a determination on whether the hearing officer exercised his independent judgment. There was no appeal or writ taken from that order and the appellate court never concluded that any party had waived the right to appeal the *Quintanar* trial court's determination on that issue during a subsequent appeal.

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